STUDY ON ECONOMIC & LEGAL ASPECTS OF SPECIAL ECONOMIC ZONES – SET UP IN GUJARAT UNDER THE SPECIAL ECONOMIC ZONES ACT, 2005

SYNOPSIS OF THE THESIS FOR **DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN LAW**

-: SUBMITTED BY :-

KALPESHKUMAR L. GUPTA

ACADEMIC ASSOCIATE
INDIAN INSTITUTE OF MANAGEMENT, AHMEDABAD,
GUJARAT, INDIA

-: SUPERVISED BY :-

DR. JAYANT T DESAI

DEAN, FACULTY OF LAW
VEER NARMAD SOUTH GUJARAT UNIVERSITY, SURAT,
GUJARAT, INDIA

SUBMITTED TO



GUJARAT NATIONAL LAW UNIVERSITY GANDHINAGAR, GUJARAT, INDIA

2016

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SR. NO	PARTICULAR	PAGE NO.					
1	Introduction	3					
2	Statement of the problem	4					
3	Significance of the study	4					
4	Objective of the study	5					
5	Hypothesis of the study	5					
6	Research Methodology	5					
7	Scheme of Chapterization	9					
8	Conclusion	11					
9	Recommendations	16					
10	Limitations of the study	20					
11	Future scope of the study	21					
#	References	23					
#	Statutes	34					

The study has been undertaken with intent to study the economic & legal aspects of the Special Economic Zones set up in Gujarat under the Special Economic Zones Act, 2005.

1. Introduction

Exports, Foreign investment, exchange earning alongwith employment generation can be the motives of any country's economy. Various countries came up with different export promotion policies to boost the exports. One of them is Export Processing Zone (EPZ) also called as Free Trade Zone (FTZ) was the prime medium to achieve abovementioned goals in earlier days. Aggarwal Aradhna (2004) defines EPZs as special enclaves, separated from the Domestic Tariff Area (DTA) by fiscal barriers and are intended to provide an internationally competitive duty free environment for export production at low cost and benefitted usually from modern and efficient infrastructure, general fiscal and non-fiscal concession to firm and better governance due to single window facilities to ensure corruption and red tape free business environment. First EPZ was set up in Shannon, Ireland in year 1959. After 1960 many countries started setting up of zones in their respective countries to boost the exports and rejuvenate the economy. In Asia, Kandla (Kutchch, Gujarat) was the first EPZ set up by the Indian Government in year 1965. Looking at the success of EPZ many Asian countries also started implementing the said policy. Shenzhen EPZ in China was the example of first successful EPZ in the world set up in year 1980. In present scenario EPZ is popularly known as SEZ which is bigger in size and having many benefits unlike conventional EPZ. SEZ is delineated area especially set up for export promotions, generating employment, earning foreign exchange, attracting foreign investment. In Custom law, it is considered to be as Foreign Territory for the purpose of tax. There are mainly three

types of SEZs namely Multi-product SEZ, Sector Specific SEZ and Free Trade & Warehousing Zone (FTWZ).

2. Statement of the problem

As we have seen that India embarked on journey of SEZ model looking at the success of Chinese SEZ. An exclusive law for SEZ also passed in year 2005 for better governance of SEZs in India. After the SEZ Act, 2005, till date 330 SEZs have been notified by the central government. There are many advantages of having SEZs in the country and but presently it has been failing to meet the expectations in terms of growth in exports, employment, investments. There are several negative aspects of SEZs alongwith positives ones. This study will analyze the economic and legal aspects of SEZs in Gujarat.

3. Significance of the study

SEZ is the burning topic at the International, National and State level because of numerous reasons. SEZ is meant to boost the exports, generating employment, attracting investments and help the economy to grow but it has started causing some side effects also namely improper land acquisitions, revenue loss, labour exploitation etc. Most importantly it has failed to achieve the desired goals in terms of exports, employment, investments etc. Central/State Governments and private companies blindly started following the concept of SEZ and setting up of SEZs and ultimately facing the present consequences. Many of private players have applied for de-notification of SEZs and shown inability to take SEZ project further because of government's volatile policies regarding SEZ. Thus there are various issues which need to be analyzed with the help of the scientific study.

4. Objectives of the study

Followings are the main objectives of the present study.

- To evaluate economic impact of SEZs in Gujarat.
- To evaluate compliance by SEZs in Gujarat under SEZ Act, 2005 & SEZ
 Rules, 2005
- To do comparative analysis of SEZs in Gujarat with SEZs in other states
- To evaluate government's policies regarding SEZs in India and Gujarat.

5. Hypothesis of the Study

Followings are the hypotheses of the present study.

- Special Economic Zone has promoted economy of Gujarat.
- Special Economic Zones in Gujarat are complying all legal requirements as per the SEZ Act, 2005 and SEZ Rules, 2006.
- SEZs in Gujarat performing better compared to SEZs in other states.
- Government policies are supporting Special Economic Zone to grow.

6. Research Methodology

Present research is purely a doctrinal study. It is descriptive and analytical by nature. The research is based on primary and secondary sources. Relevant material from primary sources is collected from statutory provisions of the relevant legislation. Researcher filed Right to Information applications in various government offices to collect some crucial information which was not available in public domain. Qualitative and Quantitative analysis will be done looking at different aspects of SEZ operation. The researcher has used other secondary sources like books, journals, reports, thesis,

dissertations, articles, newspaper, web resources, databases, scholarly commentaries, policy papers, governments notifications & circulars etc. for the present studies.

Notified SEZs in Gujarat

There are 417 formally approved, 32 in-principally approved, 330 notified and 205 exporting SEZs in India as on May 10, 2016. Gujarat stands fourth in terms of notified SEZ and in exporting SEZs, rank is fifth. There are total 18 notified SEZs in the Gujarat.

Sr. No.	Name of SEZ	Туре	Notified			
1	Kandla Special Economic Zone, Kutchch	Multi-product	November 2000			
2	Surat Special Economic Zone, Surat	Multi-product	November 2000			
3	Surat Apparel Park, Surat	Apparel	January 2005			
4	Reliance Jamnagar Infrastructure Ltd., Jamnagar	Multi-product	April 2006			
5	Adani Port & SEZ Ltd., Kutchch	Multi-product	June 2006			
6	Zydus Infrastructure Pvt. Ltd., Ahmedabad	Pharmaceuticals	September 2006			
7	Gandhinagar Electronic Park SEZ (GIDC), Gandhinagar	EHTP/ITES	December 2006			
8	Ahmedabad Apparel Park, Ahmedabad	Apparel	April 2007			
9	Synefra Engi. & Construction Ltd., Vadodara	Hi-tech Engineering products	July 2007			
10	Dahej SEZ Ltd. Bharuch	Multi-product	December 2007			

11	E-Complex Pvt. Ltd.,	Engineering	January			
11	Amreli	Goods	2008			
12	Jubilant Infrastructure Ltd.,	Chemicals	February			
	Bharuch	Chemicais	2008			
13	Aqualine Properties Pvt. Ltd.,	IT/ITES	July 2008			
	Gandhinagar	11/11125				
14	Tata Consultancy Services Ltd.,	IT/ITES	September			
	Gandhinagar	11/11125	2008			
15	Sterling SEZ & Infrastructure	Multi-product	September			
	Ltd., Bharuch	Muin-product	2008			
16	Larsen & Toubro Ltd.,	IT/ITES	November			
	Vadodara	11/11125	2008			
17	Euro Multivision Pvt. Ltd.,	Non-				
	,	conventional	April 2009			
	Kutchch	Energy				
18	GIFT SEZ Ltd,	Multi-services	August 2011			
	Gandhinagar	winin-services	August 2011			

The researcher has taken those SEZs which have completed at least five years from its notification and operational so that its progress can be analyzed and interpreted accordingly. Thus the researcher has taken total 17 SEZs from Sr. No 1 to 17 for his study.

6.1 Data Analysis & Interpretation

For the present study secondary data has been used extensively. Following are the sources for data.

Main source of primary data is exclusive law for SEZ i.e. The Special Economic Zone Act, 2005 and for its implementation The Special Economic Zone Rules, 2006 and

secondary data collected through Right to Information Applications filed in following governments offices.

- 1) Department of Commerce, Ministry of Commerce & Industries, Govt. of India.
- 2) Department of Revenue, Ministry of Finance, Govt. of India.
- Department of Information Technology, Ministry of Communication & Information Technology, Govt. of India.
- 4) Ministry of Labour & Employment, Govt. of India.
- 5) Comptroller & Auditor General of India, Govt. of India.
- 6) Industries Commissionerate, Govt. of Gujarat.

Followings are the other sources of secondary data.

- 1) Articles published in National & International Journals.
- 2) Books.
- 3) Working Papers
- 4) Policy papers/articles
- 5) Scholarly commentaries
- 6) Magazines
- 7) Newspaper articles. (Hard Copy and Online).
- 8) Central & State Government websites.
- 9) Government notifications, circulars, clarifications.
- 10) Databases like www.indiastat.com

Data has been analyzed by using simple statistical tools like chart, figure, table, percentage, ratio etc.

6.2 Scope of the Study

Present study has analyzed Economic & Legal aspects of SEZs and the researcher has confined his study to all notified SEZs of Gujarat region only. Gujarat is one of the top five states in India which has made significant effort in flourishing SEZs in the state.

7. Scheme of Chapterization

The present study has been divided into five chapters. In the Chapter 1 of the study, the researcher has discussed background of SEZs, followed by SEZs in world, India and finally in Gujarat. He has also discussed objectives, hypotheses of the study, literature review and research methodology in the same chapter. Chapter 2 deals with various legal provisions regarding SEZ in India. Chapter 3 describes the profile of all selected notified SEZs in Gujarat on which entire study is based upon. All collected data have been analyzed and interpreted in Chapter 4. Study ends with concluding remarks in Chapter 5.

The gist of each chapter is as follows

Chapter 1:- Introduction

First chapter begins with background of Special Economic Zones followed by SEZs in World, India & Gujarat. Chapter explains statement of the problem, objectives of the study, research questions and hypothesis of the study. In-depth review of literature has been done looking at all aspects finding the gap in it for the further research purpose. Research Methodology adopted for the study has been explained followed by limitations of the study. Finally scheme of chapterization is outlined at the end.

Chapter 2:- Legal Provisions Regarding Special Economic Zones in India

Chapter deals with various legal provisions regarding operation of SEZ in India. It covers exclusive legislation for SEZ, SEZ Act, 2005 & SEZ Rules, 2006 followed by allied laws, Income Tax Act, Custom Act, Excise, Service Tax, Banking, Labour Laws, Environment laws.

Chapter 3:- Special Economic Zones of Gujarat – Profile

Brief profile of all notified and selected SEZs is given in this chapter covering background of company, product/service, operation and present scenario of particular SEZ.

Chapter 4:- Data Analysis & Interpretation

Data collected from various sources has been analyzed and interpreted accordingly. This chapter shows various economic and legal aspects of SEZs in Gujarat and their interpretation.

Chapter 5 :- Conclusion & Recommendations

This chapter concludes with outlining various economic and legal aspects of SEZs operation in Gujarat. Researcher has made recommendations looking at present working condition of SEZs in Gujarat. Limitation of the present study is outlined and future scope of study in the present area is indicated. All list of references, statues, rules, list of SEZs in India, Gujarat, RTI Application/Appeals are in the appendices.

8. Conclusion

Looking at the above discussion the researcher has arrived at the following conclusions.

Promotion of economy in Gujarat

- There is insignificant growth in overall investment. Multi-product SEZs and IT/ITES SEZs are leading in attracting investment. Investment in IT/ITES has achieved four folds growth. Investment in Gujarat is very low in comparison to national average.
- Gujarat constitutes significant part in exports from SEZs in India. In year 2013-2014, Gujarat had 45% share in total exports from SEZ in India. Gujarat's average growth rate of exports in last five years is 17.71% against national average of around 25% which is considerably good. It is pertinent to note that Gujarat is leading in exports because of only one SEZ namely Reliance SEZ at Jamnagar district which is having 83% share in Gujarat's total exports from SEZs. It raises question against performance of other functional SEZs in Gujarat. Data also reveals that Reliance is heavily dependent on imports.
- There is considerable growth in imports which shows higher dependency on imports.

 Average growth rate of import is 15.72% against the exports which is 17.71%. There are not significant net exports earnings from SEZs.
- Some SEZs are having huge imports than exports showing negative earnings. Except KASEZ other SEZs are showing insignificant or negative foreign exchange earnings.
- Domestic procurement data have not been provided under RTI application which would have helped us to understand domestic industry linkages resulting in overall economic growth indicator.

- In last six to seven years significant no of units existed from SurSEZ due to operational and policy level difficulties. Other SEZs have not provided any information regarding existed units under RTI application thus it is difficult to arrive at any conclusion for this part.
- As per the report of Comptroller and Auditor General of India, despite a huge growth in exports from SEZ after the Act came into force there is still no revenue outcome analysis at the economic and the Government levels. DTA sales are considered towards calculating Net Foreign Exchange Earnings. Goods sold to DTA do not fetch any foreign exchange ultimately defeating purpose of setting up of SEZs in country.
- In last five years SEZs created employment of average 8.74% for direct employment and 12.25% indirect employment. This shows slow pace of employment generation. SurSEZ and Syenfra have created significant no of jobs surpassing their proposed figures for employment generation. Some SEZs have not provided information regarding employment generation. No proper bifurcation is available for male and female employee. Some SEZs have employed very less or negligible no of female worker in the SEZs.

Looking at present situation, SEZs in Gujarat is not meeting the expectation set. So we can say that SEZs in contributing significantly in economy of Gujarat.

Compliance of legal requirements

- After five years of SEZ Act, 2005 central government notified Development Commissioner as enforcement officer in respect of any notified offence or offences committed in SEZ. Now DC will be acting as enforcement officer in addition to administrative duties which is not a desirable scenario.

- Till date no officer/agency has been nominated u/s 20 of SEZ Act, 2005 to see compliance of any central acts. None of the SEZs have provided information regarding this. There is no notification available for notifying officer/agency to see compliance of central acts as notified for enforcement u/s 21 of SEZ Act, 2005.
- No designated court has been established u/s 23 of SEZ Act, 2005 to try all suits of a civil nature and notified offences. Many SEZs have not provided information regarding this matter. Some provided information and stated that no court has been established so far. It is pertinent to note that even in centrally established SEZs, no court has been established till date.

SEZs in Gujarat complying law & regulation barring some which is relevant for SEZs in other states also.

Performance compared to other states

- Good numbers of SEZs have been de-notified and some are under process of denotification which shows SEZs being unattractive destination for investors. Some functional SEZs are also requesting for de-notification like Surat Apparel Park, Ahmedabad Apparel Park.
- Gujarat is leading in terms of total exports from SEZs in India but reason behind this is Reliance's SEZ big share. This raises question before the other SEZs in Gujarat.

- Case of reference of dispute u/s 42 is nil. No case has also been noticed in centrally established SEZ namely MEPZ SEZ, VSEZ, Falta SEZ.

Gujarat is having major role in total exports from SEZs in India but that is because of only one SEZ viz. Reliance. This leads to uncertainty about performance of other SEZs in the state. De-notification of SEZs raises big question about its future.

Government's policy to support SEZ

- No information provided by Office of the Industries Commissionerate, Gandhinagar
 Govt. of Gujarat which shows reluctance in sharing information regarding SEZs
 operation in the state.
- No information is available regarding total revenue loss due to SEZ operation. Ministry of Finance transferred the RTI application to all over the Income Tax offices in the country which itself not provided proper information or rejected the same. Ministry of Finance does not have proper mechanism to calculate revenue losses due to SEZ operation. The researcher has received information regarding duty forgone viz. Custom and Central Excise for India SEZs which is not helpful to calculate state level analysis.
- Govt. of India does not have proper mechanism to carry out cost benefit analysis of SEZs operation in the country which can be implemented at state level.
- In last six to seven years significant no of units existed from SurSEZ due to operational and policy level difficulties. Other SEZs have not provided any information regarding existed units under RTI application thus it is difficult to arrive at any conclusion for this part.

- There is less number of cases under penal action taken under Rule 54 of SEZ Rules, 2006 which deals with monitoring of performance of SEZs. Many SEZs have not provided information regarding this thus no conclusion can be derived.
- No cases of revival of sick units reported under Rule 72 of SEZ Rules, 2006. Some
 SEZs have not provided information under RTI application.
- All labour laws are applicable to SEZs. SEZs have not provided information regarding labour laws violation. As per information received under RTI, in some of the old centrally established, no case of labour laws violation noticed.
- Many SEZs have not provided information regarding labour dispute in the SEZs so no further analysis can be done. In two SEZs no case of labour dispute has arisen.
- Most of SEZs have not replied regarding implementation of Green SEZ guidelines
 in SEZ. Reliance has very well planned to implement this policy. Even India's
 oldest SEZ, KASEZ is in nascent state in implementing the policy.
- None of SEZs have provided information regarding training facilities provided in the SEZs. SurSEZ is having Jewellery Training Centre which will help to train manpower for gems and jewellery units in the SEZ.
- None of the SEZs have provided information regarding facilities available in the SEZs.
- There are not major issues regarding land acquisition for setting up of SEZs in the state except Adani SEZ in Kutchch. As per the latest report titled "Best Practices to Improve the Business Environment across India" release in May 2014 by the Department of Industrial Policy and Promotion, a wing of Ministry of Commerce and Industry, Gujarat scored high on its land acquisition practices.

- There are not much environmental issues arisen because of SEZ operation except

 Adani SEZ issue which has recently got the clearance from the Ministry of

 Environment & Forest with certain conditions.
- SEZs in Gujarat are very well geographically located covering all major part of the state except few districts/region where SEZS should have been set up.
- Above all there is no transparency in operation of SEZs in the state.

It seems that present government policy is not favourable for proper and speedy development of SEZs in the state as well as in the country. Progress is completely stagnant and discouraging.

9. Recommendations

Followings are some recommendations regarding further development of SEZs in the Gujarat. These are also rightly applicable to SEZs in other states also.

- Though Gujarat is having huge share in total exports from India's SEZ but main effort behind this scenario is only one SEZ i.e. Reliance SEZ. Performance of other SEZs needs to be evaluated timely to avoid any future failure which will cost the economy greatly.
- There are SEZs which are highly dependent on Imports to make their final product which results in negative net export earnings. Government should make all effort to support domestic industries with which SEZs can have good linkages for making final products. If there will be strong linkages then SEZs will have to rely less on imports and they can procure capital goods/raw material locally and help the economy to grow in true sense. Domestic Industry Linkages will ultimately help to achieve have positive net foreign exchange earnings.

- SEZs in Gujarat have marked average growth of 8.71% in generation of direct employment in last five years. SEZs are not able to carry out project in full-fledged manner due to operational and government policy issues resulting in low employment generation. Government should intervene in this matter and assist SEZ developer, units by way of liberalizing the policy esp. fiscal policy.
- Central Government should come out with a sound mechanism to assess the net benefit coming out of operation of SEZs. CAG in its report stated that despite a huge growth in exports from SEZ after the Act came into force there is still no revenue outcome analysis at the economic and the Government levels.
- Each Zonal Development Commissioner of SEZ should compile all important data and send it to Department of Commerce, Ministry of Commerce, Govt. of India periodically. It has been found through the RTI application that Department of Commerce itself not maintaining crucial data which they are supposed to maintain and to be disseminated to the public at large at regular interval. Department of Commerce's dedicated website for SEZ, www.sezindia.nic.in itself not updated and not containing any kind of important data.
- Some legal provisions have not been implemented even after ten years of implementation of act and rules regarding SEZ. Followings are the few.
 - a. Agency/Officer has not been nominated u/s. 20 (Agency to Inspect) of SEZ Act, 2005. Nominated Agency/Office will see that SEZs are complying with the central government's laws or not. It will prepare the compliance report and submit it to government.
 - b. Designated Courts have not been set up u/s. 23 of SEZ Act, 2005. Designated Courts will hear the cases of civil nature and notified offences. Reply of RTI Application reveals that no court has been established by any of the states in

India. If it is not feasible to establish court for each SEZ in the state, then geographic area wise i.e. North, South, East, West, court can be established.

- Central Government should appoint independent person/agency as single enforcement officer/agency u/s 21 of SEZ Act, 2005 rather than giving power to Development Commissioner who is overall in charge of administration of SEZ.
- Central govt. should come up with concrete steps to promote the SEZs esp. in terms of providing fiscal benefits. Many companies discontinued the SEZs projects because of applicability of Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT) and Dividend Distribution Tax (DDT) under Income Tax Act. Govt. should restore the benefits again to SEZ so that they can carry on their abandoned projects at the earliest. Till date 3 SEZs have been denotified and 5 SEZs are under process to be de-notified mainly because of fiscal benefit issues. Over 90 percent SEZ's land are lying vacant: Govt. Commerce Ministry working out policy initiative to revitalize SEZs.
- There should be proper tuning between Ministry of Commerce & Industry and Ministry of Finance for development of SEZs in the state and all over the India. Both ministries should do periodic cost-benefit analysis so that we can have proper picture of growth of SEZs. As we have seen that Ministry of Finance is not maintaining any type of proper data pertaining to loss occurred due to SEZs operation. On the contrary, they are claiming that there will be big revenue loss due to SEZs operation on the basis of sheer assumption. They should come out with proper mechanism to assess revenue loss occurred to due to SEZs operation and then have words with Ministry of Commerce with regards to profitability of SEZs.

¹---- (2015), "Over 90 percent SEZ's land are lying vacant: Govt.", The Economic Times, December 10, 2015

²---- (2015), "Commerce Ministry working out policy initiative to revitalize SEZs", *The Economic Times*, December 7, 2015

- Gujarat SEZ Act, 2004 should be scrapped to follow one single central law SEZ Act, 2005 and SEZ Rules, 2006. Gujarat SEZ law has been challenged by the person named Shabbir Ali Khalifa from Kutchch district of Gujarat. Khalifa's lawyer said that the state government was incompetent to enact such legislation that would govern the activities and exempts customs and other duties on import/export in non-domestic tariff areas. The state government cannot make legislation to govern foreign trade and foreign exchange, he argues, adding that since the centre came out with legislation, the state's law becomes infructuous. Parliament holds exclusive authority to form laws on this subject. The petition contended that after the Centre came up with a law, its law, its law prevails uniformly across the country and all SEZs are under the supervision of the Union government. But the state government's SEZ laws are still in existence, which is 'gross encroachment on central government's legislation.³
- It has been noticed that there is not much transparency in operation of SEZs. They don't disclose even basic information of export, import, investment, employment figures. Only whenever there is growth in Export, they will highlight the figure. To bring the transparency in working on SEZs, every SEZs should have separate website for their SEZs and put all information on that on regular interval. Only few SEZs are having their websites. Many SEZs are having its details on its parent company's website and information available is very limited and not useful for any kind of analysis. Each SEZs must publish important information like export, import, investment, employment, foreign exchange, DTA Sales, sub-contracting, training details, labour disputes details etc. on quarterly and annual basis.

-

³ ----- (2013), "Gujarat's SEZ laws challenged in HC", *The Times of India*, January 19, 2013 retrieved from http://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/city/ahmedabad/Gujarats-SEZ-laws-challenged-in-HC/articleshow/18082205.cms on March 2, 2014

10. Limitations of the study

No study can be without any limitations; this present study is also having followings limitations.

- Updated information is not available with various governments' websites, offices. There is mismatch regarding information available with central and state government. As per study done by Nicola A. V. Virgill (2009) Data on EPZ is scant. The International Labour Organization is the organization which currently and systematically collects data on export processing zones. Additionally, because there are different ways allowed under international trade and national statistics rules for accounting for EPZ exports, no consistent measure exists for EPZ exports. This analysis could be improved however through case study methodology.
- The researcher could not visit specified SEZs taken as sample size for his study in absence of permission from Industries Commissionerate (IC), Govt. of Gujarat. The researcher planned interview with SEZ Developers, SEZ Unit holder and personnel of the units. He requested IC to issue recommendation letter in favour of him so that he could visit SEZs in Gujarat without and any trouble and get co-operation from the organizations. One cannot enter in SEZ without due permission from the authority mainly from Industry Department of State, Development Commissioner of SEZs. Malhotra Shavin (2008) during his Ph.D. thesis found that zone officials and tenants reluctant to respond the surveys. First zone official showed interest in the survey but suddenly they changed their views having knowledge of scope of the study. The administrators seemed unwilling to share any financial information on the zone and refused to offer any help in carrying out the survey.

- Labour conditions have not been studied properly due to permission issues for visit.

 The researcher tried to study some aspects of human development with the help of information obtained under RTI Act. Personal interview in SEZ with various stakeholders would have helped him to understand the impact of SEZ on human development.
- The researcher filed RTI Applications in state and central government departments asking various information regarding SEZs as shown in RTI applications but unfortunately they are not maintaining most of the information which they are supposed to have/maintain. They just transferred his application from one office to other office and that office to another one as per the procedure laid down in the RTI Act. He received some information about SEZs due to Ministry of Commerce's effort. He has not received any kind of information from the Office of the Industries Commissioner, Gandhinagar, Govt. of Gujarat under RTI application and he has filed second appeal under the RTI Act but no reply has come yet. Till date he is waiting for reply from other govt. offices which would have helped him greatly to evaluate performance of SEZs in the state. This entire exercise helped him to the certain extent but not in significant way.
- Major statistical tools could not be applied as required data for that not available and have not been provided by the concerned government.

11. Future Scope of the study

As we seen in the above discussion that there are various economic and legal aspects of SEZ in India and Gujarat, which can be studied accordingly. The researcher has outlined almost all economic & legal aspects of SEZs with the help of extensive literature review. Researcher emphasized on secondary data for the present study

which can be enhanced by empirical study in future. So far no significant study has been done with regards to SEZ in Gujarat, so there is a very wide scope to do further study the impact of SEZs in Gujarat by looking at different aspects.

REFERENCES

BOOKS

Aggarwal Aradhna (2012), "Social and Economic Impact of SEZs in India", Oxford University Press, New Delhi, First Ed. 2012

Asher Manshi (2014), "Gujarat and Punjab, The Entrepreneur's Paradise and the Land of the Farmer", *Power, Policy and Protest, The Politics of India's Special Economic Zones*, Oxford University Press, 2014, pp 137-169

Wu Weiping (1999): Pioneering Economic Reforms in China's Special Economic Zones: The Promotion of Foreign Investment and Technology Transfers in Shenzhen, London: Ashgate Publishing

JOURNALS

Atta Ramachandrabh (2003), "SEZs and the Environment", Economic and Political Weekly", May 17, 2003

Birajdar Shirmant (2011), "A Study on Special Economic Zone and their Implication on Sustainable Development", *Indian Streams Research Journal*, Vol. I, Issue – X, November 2011

Chu David K. W. (1987), "China's Special Economic Zone: Expectation and Reality", Taylor & Francis Ltd., *Asian Affairs*, Vol. 14, No. 2, pp 77-89

Clyde D. Stoltenberg (1984), "China's Special Economic Zones: Their Development and Prospects", University of California Press, *Asian Survey*, Vol. 24, No. 6 (Jun., 1984), pp. 637-654

Choudhury Koel Roy (2010), "Review paper Special Economic Zones in China", *SIES Journal of Management*, April-August 2010, Vol. 7(1): 114-120

Cross Jamie (2009), "From dreams to discontent: Educated young men and the politics of work at a Special Economic Zone in Andhra Pradesh", *Contribution to Indian Sociology*, 43, 3 (2009), 351-79

Dennis A. Rondinelu (1987), "Export Processing Zones and Economic Development in Asia: A Review and Reassessment of a Means of Promoting Growth and Jobs", *American Journal of Economics and Sociology*, Vol. 46, No. 1.

D. L. Ii. Jayawardena (1983), "Free Trade Zones," *Journal of World Trade Law*, Vol. 17, No. 5 (1983), pp. 427-44

Daniel Ding, Dail Fields & Syed Akhtar (1997), "An empirical study of human resource management policies and practices in foreign-invested enterprises in China: the case of Shenzen

Special Economic Zone", The International Journal of Human Resource Management, 8:5,595-613

Dhingra Tarun & Tripti Singh (2009), "Location strategy for competitiveness of special economic zones, A generic framework for India", *Competitiveness Review : An International Business Journal*, Vol. 19, No. 4, 2009, pp. 272-289

Gong Na & Luo Fangzhou (2008). "City Soft Power" Comprehensive Evaluation System and Assessment Method" *Shenyang Education Institute Journal*, 2008(6):25-27

Gopinath D. (2009), "Contemporary Approaches to Economic Development: The Special Economic Zone Programme", *Local Economy 2009*, Vol. 24, Nos. 6-7, September – November 2009. 448-455

Guang Tian (2011), "Soft Power and Shantou Economic Special Zone Construction: A New Breakthrough Point for Development", *Journal of Applied Business and Economics*, Vol. 12(6) 2011

Indira Hirway (2011), "Labour and Employment under Globalization: The Case of Gujarat", *Economic & Political Weekly*, May 28, 2011, Vol. XLVI No. 22 retrieved from http://www.epw.in/system/files/pdf/2011_46/22/Labour_and_Employment_under_Globalisatio n_The_Case_of_Gujarat.pdf on May 8, 2014

Jayanthakumaran Kankesu (2003), "Benefit-Cost Appraisals of Export Processing Zones: A Survey of the Literature", *Development Policy Review*, 2003, 21 (1): 51-65

Jeyaraj Xavier (2008) 'A SEZ with a Difference', Social Action 58(3): 5-11

Jona Aravind Dohrmann (2008), "Special Economic Zone in India", ASIEN 106 January 2008, S 60-80

Jain Sumeet (2011), "You say Nano, We say no-no: Getting a "Yes" Instead for Special Economic Zones in India", Northwestern Journal of International Law & Business, 32:1(2011)

Louise do Rosario (1985), "Into the Red Zone," Far Eastern Economic Review, Vol. 129, pp 61-63

Lein-lein Chen & Melvin Jameson (2012), "Rents, party cadres and the proliferation of Special Economic Zones in China", *Journal of Economic Policy Reform*, Vol. 15: No. 3, September 2012, 207-221

Murugesan P & P K Bandgar (2010), "Land Acquisition for SEZs in India: Theoretical Perspective", *Southern Economist*, August 2010

Michael Levien (2011), "Special Economic Zones and Accumulation by Dispossession in India", *Journal of Agrarian Change*, Vol. 11 no. 4, October 2011, pp 454-483

Mee Kam Ng (2011), "Strategic Planning of China's First Special Economic Zone: Shenzhen City Master Plan", *Planning Theory & Practice*, Vol. 12: No. 4, December 2011, 638-642

Madalina Giorgiana Mangra, Natalita Maria Sperdea, Ljubisav Celenkovic & Contantin Cojocaru (2011), "China's Special Economic Zones and The Current Global Economic Downturn", *Economies, Management and Financial Markets*, Vol. 6(4), 2011, pp 132-137

Michael Levien (2012), "The land question: special economic zones and the political economy of dispossession in India", *The Journal of Peasant Studies*, Vol. 39, Nos. 3-4, July-October 2012, 933-969

Michael Levien (2013), "Regimes of Dispossessions: From Steel owns to Special Economic Zones", *Development and Change*, 44(2):381-407

Ngai Pun (2004), "Women workers and precarious employment in Shenzhen Special Economic Zone, China", *Gender and Development*, Vol. 1, No. 2, July 2004

Namkoong Young (2003), "North Korea's Policy of Sinuiju Special Economic Zone: Implications and Prospects", *International Area Review*, Vol. 6, Number 2, Fall 2003

Nagayya D & T V Rao (2010), "Special Economic Zones for Rapid Industrialization and Regional Development Progress and Concerns", *The IUP Journal of Managerial Economics*, Vol. VIII, Nos. 1 & 2, 2010

Palit Amitendu (2009), "Growth of Special Economic Zones (SEZs) in India: Issues and Perspectives", *Journal of Infrastructure Development* 2009, 1:133

Pillai Manoj (2008), "Special Economic Zones in India: Controversial Paradigms of Economic Growth and Infrastructure Development", *ICFAI Journal of Infrastructure*, December 2008, Vol. 6, Issue 4, p 74

Pathak Maulik (2014), "Adani Ports gets interim relief over Mundra SEZ", live mint & The Wall Street Journal, January 27, 2014

Phillips D. R. & A. G. O. Yeh (1983), "China experiments with modernization: the Shenzhen Special Economic Zone", *Geography*, Vol. 68, No. 4, October 1983, pp. 289-300

Raheem Abdul A (2011), "Impact of Special Economic Zone on Human Development and Poverty Reduction: An Indian Experience", *International Journal of Multidisciplinary Research*, Vol. 1, Issue 7, November 2011

Schweinberger Alber G. (2003), "Special Economic Zones in Developing and/or Transition Economies: a Policy Proposal", *Review of International Economies*, 11(4), 619-629, 2003

Sheth Jagdish (2004), "Making India Globally Competitive", Vikalpa, Vol. 29, No. 4, December 2004

Singh Dharminder (2009), "Impact of Special Economic Zones on the Agricultural Sector", *Mainstream*, Vol. XLVII, No. 38, September 5, 2009

Shah Deepak (2009), "Special Economic Zones in India: A Review of Investment, Trade, Employment Generation and Impact", *Indian Journal of Agricultural Economics*, Jul-Sep 2009, 64:3, pp 431-441

Sit Victor F S (1988): "China's Export Oriented Open Areas: The Exports Processing Zone Concept", *Asian Survey*, 28 (6).

Seshadri Triyakshna & Virgil Henry Storr (2010), "Knowledge problems associated with creating export zones", *Rev. Australian Econ*, 2010, 23:347-366

Sharma R N (2010), "Changing facets of involuntary displacement and resettlement in India", *Social Change*, 40, 4(2010): 503-524

Seshardi Triyakshana (2011), "An Analysis of the feasibility of private land assembly for Special Economic Zones in India", *Urban Studies*, 1-16, 2011

Singala Subbaiah, Yamini Atmavilas & Ekta Singh (2011), "Special Economic Zones in India: Policies, Performance and Problems", *ASCI Journal of Management*, 40(2): 21-59

Tyagi Vinay, Mayank Mishra & Aishwarya Singh (2007), "An assessment of the Indo-China Special Economic Zones, The Conceptualization", *Delhi Business Review*, X Vol. 8, No. 1 (January – June 2007)

Tantri Malini (2011), "Trade Performance of SEZs in India: A Disaggregated-level analysis", *Margin-The Journal of Applied Economic Research*, 5:2 (2011): 267-288

Tantri Malini L. (2012), "Effectiveness of the Special Economic Zone policy over the Export Processing Zone structure in India: trade performance at the aggregate level, *Journal of Asian Public Policy*, 5:1, March 2012, 23-40

Wong Edy L (1987), "Recent Developments in China's Special Economic Zone: Problem and Prognosis", *The Developing Economies*, XXV-1, March 1987, 73-86

Xie Wei (2000), "Acquisition of technological capability through special economic zones (SEZS): The Case of Shenzhen SEZ", *Industry and Innovation*, 7:2, 199-221

Zhuang, Delin and Chen Xinkang (2009), "International Metropolitan Soft Power Assessment" *Urban Development Studies*, 2009 (10): 35-39.

WORKING PAPERS

Aggarwal Aradhna (2004), "Export Processing Zones in India: Analysis of the Export Performance", Working Paper No. 148, Indian Council For Research on International Economic Relation, November 2004

Aggarwal Aradhna (2004), "Export Processing Zones in India: Analysis of the export performance" Working Paper No. 148, Indian Council for Research on International Economic Relations

Aggarwal Aradhna (2007), "Impact of Special Economic Zones on Employment, Poverty and Human Development", Indian Council for Research on International Economic Relations

ILO (2007), "ILO database on Export Processing Zones", Working Paper International Labour Office, Geneva

Mukhopadhyay Partha (2009), "The Promised Land of SEZs", Occasional Paper No. 17, Special Economic Zones, Promise, Performance and Pending Issues, Centre for Policy Research, New Delhi, March 2009

Mukhopadhyay Partha & Kanhu Charan Pradhan (2009), "Location of SEZs and Policy Benefits : What does the data say?", Occasional Paper No. 18, Special Economic Zones, Promise, Performance and Pending Issues, Centre for Policy Research, New Delhi, March 2009

Singh Jaivir (2009), "Labour Law and Special Economic Zones in India", CSLG working paper CSLG/WP/09/01, Centre For the Study of Law and Governance, Jawaharlal Nehru University, New Delhi, April 2009

United Nations Industrial Development Organization (UNIDO, 1980), "Export Processing Zones in Development Countries", UNIDO working papers on Structural Changes, No. 19, UNIDOKIS 176, New York, August 18, 1980

Vaidya Chetan (2009), "Urban Issues, Reforms and Way Forward in India", Working Paper No. 4/2009-DEA, Department of Economic Affairs, Ministry of Finance, Govt. of India, July 2009

RESEARCH PAPERS / ARTICLES

Ananthanarayanan Sriram (2008), "New Mechanism of Imperialism in India: The Special Economic Zones", Socialism and Democracy, March 2008: 35-60, 201

Burman Anirudh (2006), "Special Economic Zones: Issues in Corporate Governance", Social Science Research Network, December 15, 2006 retrieved from http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=954934 on April 2, 2012

Bhandari Amit & Almas Heshmati (2006), "Wage inequality and job insecurity among permanent and contract workers in India: Evidence from Organized manufacturing Industries", Discussion Paper Series, Institute for the Study of Labour, April 2006

Basu Amitava (2012), "SEZ policies: Fine tuning needed for greater impact", SEZ Horizon, March 2012

Bijoy C. R. (2007), "Special Economic Zones: Profits at any cost", October 22, 2007 retrieved from http://www.doccentre.net/Tod/SEZs-Profits-At-Any-Cost.php

Chatterjee Sumana (2008), "The Economics of Special Economic Zones in India: Ground Realities and Key Consideration", Faculty of Technology & Engineering, The Maharaja Sayajirao University, Baroda.

Centre for Education and Documentation (2009), "The Impact of Special Economic Zones on Small Farmers in India", retrieved from http://base.d-p-h.info/en/fiches/dph/fiche-dph-7976.html on January 2, 2011

Dey Ishita (2008), "The emerging scenario of citizenship – case of Special Economic Zones in India", Mahanirban Calcutta Research Group retrieved from www.mcrg.ac.in/T_C_Conference/Ishita.doc on May 5, 2013

E. E. Pollack (1981), "Free Ports, Free Trade Zones, Export Processing Zones and Economic Development," in B. S. Hoyle and D. A. Pinder (eds.), Cityport Industrialization and Regional Development (London: Pergamon, 1981), pp. 37-45

Firoz Nadeem M & H Amy Murray, "Foreign Investment Opportunity in China's Special Economic Zones"

Jenkins Rob (2007), "The Politics of India's Special Economic Zones", Research Colloquium. "India's Great Transformation?' Columbia University, September 14-16, 2007

Kwan-Yiu Wong & David K. Y. Chu (1984), "Export Processing Zones and Special Economic Zones as Generators of Economic Development: The Asian Experience", Blackwell Publishing, Geografiska Annaler, Series B, Human Geography, Vol. 66, No. 1 (1984), pp. 1-16

Kujur Rajat Kumar (2007), "Special Economic Zone: The New Conflict Ground in India", Society for the study of peace and conflict, New Delhi, Article No. 103, February 7, 2007 retrieved from http://sspconline.org/article_details.asp?artid=art113 on August 12, 2012

Kasturi Kannan (2009), "SEZs have failed to take off in India", retrieved from http://southasia.oneworld.net/opinioncomment/sezs-have-failed-to-take-off-in-india/ on May 25, 2010

Kennedy Loraine (2010), "India's Controversial Special Economic Zone Policy", May 1, 2010 retrieved from http://www.reseau-asie.com/edito-en/reseau-asie-s-editorial/special-economic-zone-sez-india/ on May 1, 2012

Khan Saeed (2008), "India's SEZ, Business Zones Development Economic Performance, Social/Environmental Impacts" retrieved from http://ssrn.com/abstract=1292195 on July 1, 2012

Lakshmanan L. (2009), "Evolution of Special Economic Zones and Some Issues: The Indian Experience", Department of Economic Analysis & Policy, June 2009

Menon Ramesh (2006), "Special Economic Zones Boon or Disaster?" retrieved from http://www.boloji.com/analysis2/0150.htm on June 2, 2012

Menon S Narayan & Soumya Kanti Mitra (2009), "Special Economic Zones The Rationale", Special Economic Zones, Promise, Performance and Pending Issues, Centre for Policy Research, New Delhi, March 2009

Mitra Siddhartha (2007), "Special Economic Zones in India: White elephants or race horses" Social Science Research Network retrieved from http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=969274 on March 5, 2012

Mukherji Rahul (2007), "Special Economic Zones in India: Recent Developments and Future Prospects", Institute of South Asian Studies, National University of Singapore.

Mody Anjali (2010), "Special Economic Zones: A Briefing Note", Research Project: The Politics of India's Special Economic Zones, February 2010 retrieved from www.indiaSEZpolitics.org on June 10, 2012

Nema Pradeep & Pradeep Pokhariyal (2008), "SEZs as Growth Engines – India v/s. China", October 5, 2008 retrieved from http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1279023 on August 2, 2012

Rawat Vidya Bhushan, Mamidi Bharath Bhushan & Sujatha Surepally (2011), "The Impact of Special Economic Zones in India", Conference paper presented at International Conference on Global Land Grabing, April 6-8, 2011

Rabbani F.A. (1980), "Economic and Social Impacts of Export Processing Zones in Asia", Asian Productivity Organization, Tokyo, p 105

Seshadri Triyakshana (2010), "Special Economic Zones in India: Landed before take-off", Denison University

Sivaramakrishnan K.C. (2009), "Special Economic Zones: Issues of Urban Growth and Management", Occasional Paper No. 19, Special Economic Zones, Promise, Performance and Pending Issues, Centre for Policy Research, New Delhi, March 2009

Singh Rankit & Arup Barman (2012), "Special Economic Zones in India: The Continuity Context", retrieved from http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1681935 on April 3, 2013

Tao Jianjie, (2010), City Soft Power and Its Comprehensive Evaluation Index System Shanghai Urban Management, 2010(3):56-60.

Upadhyaya Himanshu (2008), "CAG indicts SEZ policy", retrieved from http://www.indiatogether.org/2008/jun/gov-sezloss.htm on April 5, 2012

Vaddiparti Neha & Sheela Prasad, "Loss of commons and the state – A Study of Special Economic Zones in Andhra Pradesh, India"

Venugopal P N (2005), "Special Exploitation Zone" August 17, 2005 retrieved from http://www.indiatogether.org/2005/aug/eco-sezone.htm May 1, 2014

Wei Ge (2012), "Special Economic Zone and Technological Learning: An Analytical Framework Economics and Finance Review", Vol. 2(3), pp. 01-15, May 2012 retrieved from http://www.businessjournalz.org/efr on June 10, 2013

Zaw Aung (2008), "Dawei Special Economic Zone: Its prospects and challenges", Paper presented at 4th International Conference on Human Rights and Human Development

DISSERTATION / THESIS

Chelsea Fish (2011), "Land Acquisition for Special Economic Zones in India", Dissertation submitted to Temple University Graduate Board.

Jonathan David Jones (2009), "Negotiation Development: A Study of the grassroots resistance to India's 2005 Special Economic Zones Act", Ph.D. Dissertation submitted to University of Florida

Lynnda Marie B Laraya (1993), "The Philippines Subic Special Economic and Free Port Zone, A new approach to old strategy", Dissertation for Master of City Planning, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 1993

Liu Haishan (2005), "China's Special Economic Zone: from Shenzhen to Shanghai – A New Path to Industrialization, Urbanization, Globalization and Modernization", Ph.D. Thesis submitted to New School for Social Research.

Malhotra Shavin (2007), "Free Trade Zones: Characteristics and Tenant Behaviour", Ph.D. thesis, Carleton University, December 2007

Nicola A V. Virgrill (2009), "Export Processing Zones: Tools of development or reform delay?", Ph.D. thesis submitted for Ph.D. at George Mason University

Seshadri Triyakshana (2011), "The Political Economy of Special Economic Zones in India", Ph.D. thesis submitted to George Mason University, 2011

Wai Man Wu (1990), "China's Shenzhen Special Economic Zone – A Social Benefit-Cost Analysis", Dissertation for Ph.D. Economics, University of Hawai.

REPORTS

FIAS (2008), "Special Economic Zones: Performance, Lesson Learned and Implications for Zone Development", Report by FIAS, the Multi Donor Investment Climate Advisory Service managed by the International Finance Corporation (IFC).

India Infrastructure Report (2009), "Land-A Critical Resource for Infrastructure", Infrastructure Development Finance Company, Oxford University Press.

Oborne Michel (1986): China's Special Economic Zones (Paris: OECD Development Centre).

Pricewaterhouse Coopers (2008), "SEZ in India: Major Leap Forward", August 22-23, 2008

Thomas Farole & Gokhan Akinci, (2011), "Special Economic Zones, Progress, Emerging Challenges and Future Direction", The World Bank, p 68 retrieved from http://www-wds.worldbank.org/external/default/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/2011/08/16/000386194_201 10816014424/Rendered/PDF/638440PUB0Exto00Box0361527B0PUBLIC0.pdf on May 8, 2014

Warr Peter, (1989), "Export Processing Zones: The Economics of Enclave Manufacturing", Oxford University Press, The World Bank Research Observer, Vol. 4, No. 1, Jan 1989, pp 65-88

MAGAZINE

Aggarwal Aradhna (2006), "Special Economic Zones: Revisiting the Policy Debate, A discussion of the pros and cons of the controversial SEZ policy", *Economic and Political Weekly*, November 4, 2006

Dabas Ajay (2012), "SEZ: A vision gone", SEZ Horizon, March 2012

Gopalakrishnan Shankar (2007), "Negative Aspects of Special Economic Zones in China", Economic and Political Weekly, April 28, 2007

Nye Joseph (1990), "The Changing Nature of World Power". *Political Science Quarterly*, Vol. 105 (2): 177-192.

Sharma Naresh Kumar (2009), "Special Economic Zones: Socio-economic Implications", *Economic & Political Weekly*, Vol. XLIV, No. 20, p 18-20, May 16, 2009

Sharma Surendra (2012), "SEZ policies: Fine tuning needed for greater impact", SEZ Horizon, March 2012

Tsui Anna P. Y. (2009), "Land Dispute Resolution in the Shenzhen Special Economic Zone", *China Information* 2009 23:257

Tantri Malini (2010), "Import Dependency of Special Economic Zones", *Economic & Political Weekly*, Vol. XLV No. 36, September 4, 2010

---- (2011), "Surat SEZ, India's First Private Sector Special Economic Zone, Achieves Phenomenal Growth; Exports Jump to Rs. 381 Billion during 2010-11, Is expected to cross Rs. 500 Billion in 2011-12" *Business Times*, Washington DC, June 2011 Issue, Volume XXIX No 4

NEWSPAPER

Appu Esthose Suresh (2014), "FinMin red flags Adani- Gujarat govt venture for SEZ", *The Indian Express*, New Delhi, April 16, 2014 retrieved from http://indianexpress.com/article/business/business-others/finmin-red-flags-adani-gujarat-govt-venture-for-sez/ on May 8, 2014

Basu Nayanima (2014), "Strict background checks for new SEZs likely", *Business Standard*, New Delhi, December 18, 2014

Aggarwal Aradhna & Rajiv Kumar (2007), "De-mystifying SEZs", *Business Standard*, New Delhi, October 21, 2007 retrieved from http://www.business-standard.com/india/storypage.php?autono=301854 on February 3, 2012

Chatterjee Vinayak (2008), "The ongoing SEZ saga", *Business Standard*, June 16, 2008 retrieved from http://www.business-standard.com/article/opinion/vinayak-chatterjee-the-ongoing-sez-saga-108061601061_1.html on May 1, 2013

Darji Himanshu (2010),"Reality giant Rahejas withdraw Vadodara IT SEZ", *The Economic Times*, September 27, 2010

French Howard (2006), "Chinese Success Story Chokes on its own growth", *The New York Times*, December 19, 2006

Khanna Summit (2011), "Rs. 42, 000 crore worth SEZ investments on the anvil for Gujarat", *DNA*, Gandhinagar, February 19, 2011 retrieved from http://www.dnaindia.com/india/report-rs42000-crore-worth-sez-investments-on-the-anvil-for-gujarat-1510058 on May 8, 2014

Nair Avinash (2013), "Kandla SEZ to build 10, 000kg/day biogas plant", *The Indian Express*, Ahmedabad, June 2, 2013 retrieved from http://archive.indianexpress.com/news/kandla-sez-to-build-10000-kgday-biogas-plant/1123967/ on May 8, 2014

Press Trust of India (2013), "L & T approaches Govt. to surrender SEZ; 16 companies seek more time", *The Economic Times*, March 7, 2013

Thomas Melvyn (2010), "Apparel manufacturers want SEZ denotified, converted into apparel park", *The Times of India*, March 25, 2010 retrieved from http://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/city/surat/Apparel-manufacturers-want-SEZ-denotified-converted-into-apparel-park/articleshow/5724574.cms on May 8, 2014

---- (2009), "Crisis-hit apparel makers opt for non-SEZ parks in Gujarat", *The Financial Express*, Ahmedabad, September 25, 2009 retrieved from http://www.financialexpress.com/news/crisishit-apparel-makers-opt-for-nonsez-parks-ingujarat/521244 on May 8, 2014

---- (2012), "RIL's Jamnagar SEZ contributes 83% to the state's SEZ exports", *The Economic Times*, June 23, 2012 retrieved from http://articles.economictimes.indiatimes.com/2012-06-23/news/32382266_1_sez-exports-physical-exports-dahej-sez on May 8, 2014

---- (2013), "Gujarat's SEZ laws challenged in HC", *The Times of India*, January 19, 2013 retrieved from http://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/city/ahmedabad/Gujarats-SEZ-laws-challenged-in-HC/articleshow/18082205.cms on January 2, 2014

WEB-REFERENCES

Export Oriented Unit retrieved from http://www.eouindia.gov.in/fact_figure.htm

Adani Port and SEZ Ltd. www.adaniports.com

Central Board of Excise & Custom, www.cbec.gov.in

Department of Biotechnology, Govt. of India, www.dbtindia.nic.in

Dahej Special Economic Zone, www.dahejsez.com

Euro Multivision Ltd, www.euromultivision.com

Kandla Special Economic Zone, www.kasez.com

Surat Special Economic Zone, www.sursez.com

Software Technological Park of India retrieved from https://www.stpi.in/writereaddata/links/3065162286ar1112en.pdf

Sterling Special Economic Zone retrieved from http://www.sterlingsez.com/

www.indiastat.com

World Export Processing Zones Association, http://www.wepza.org/

Instruction from Ministry of Commerce, Govt. of India, December 29, 2010 retrieved from http://www.sezindia.nic.in/writereaddata/Instructions/Instruction%20No.73.pdf on May 2, 2014

Jubilant Life Sciences retrieved from http://www.jubl.com/sez/jubilant-sez-aboutus.html on May 2, 2014

Department of Land Resources, Ministry of Rural Development, Govt. of India retrieved from http://dolr.nic.in/dolr/downloads/pdfs/Act_Land_Acqusiition_2013.pdf
Environment Clearance from Ministry of Environment and Forest, Govt. of India, dated March 17, 2010 retrieved from http://www.dahejsez.com/ENV-CLEARANCE.pdf on May 8, 2014

Industrial Dispute (Gujarat Amendment Act, 2004) retrieved from http://ic.gujarat.gov.in/wp-content/uploads/2011/03/industrial_disputes_act2004.pdf on May 8, 2014

STATUTES

- 1. Central Excise Act, 1944
- 2. Customs Act, 1962
- 3. Central Excise Tariff Act, 1985
- 4. Customs Tariff Act, 1975
- 5. Gujarat Special Economic Zones Act, 2004
- 6. Gujarat Special Economic Zones Rules, 2005
- 7. Income Tax Act, 1961
- 8. Finance Act, 1994
- 9. The Special Economic Zones Act, 2005
- 10. The Special Economic Zones Rules, 2006

Notes

 	 -		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
 	 -	. = =	 • •	 	 	 	 .==	 	 	 	
 	 -		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
 	 		 	 . — — -	 	 	 	 	 	 	
 	 		 • • •	 	 	 	 .==:	 	 	 	
 	 		 • 	 . = = :	 	 	 	 	 	 	
 	 -		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
 	 -		 	 . — — -	 	 	 	 	 	 	
 	 	. = =	 . — —	 	 	 	 .==:	 	 	 	
 	 		 	 . – – .	 	 	 	 	 	 	



Kalpeshkumar L Gupta Academic Associate – IIM Ahmedabad

Academic Associate – IIM Ahmedabad Mob. 99248 97691 E-mail :- advocatekgupta@gmail.com